

Bibliography. Pasifika Social Work in New Zealand 1990-2008



Tricia Bingham

Sylvia Ashton-Warner Library

Faculty of Education

University of Auckland

Preface

As a Subject Librarian for the School of Counselling, Human Services and Social Work at the Faculty of Education at the University of Auckland, I am often asked to search for literature on Pasifika approaches to social work practice and research. This bibliography is an attempt to bring together research and literature of interest to social work professionals working with Pasifika peoples in New Zealand.

Scope

While the majority of material included has been published in, or about New Zealand, selected international material has also been included where this was considered relevant to the New Zealand situation.

The bibliography includes references to journal articles, conference papers, government reports and selected books.

Information is arranged by selected "fields of practice" subject headings, in the APA style.

No one bibliography is ever likely to be comprehensive. I hope however that the material presented here will be of assistance to social worker's professional practice as they attempt to increase their knowledge, skills and awareness of Pasifika issues.

April 2009

Table of Contents

Table of Contents	3
Administration	5
Adolescents	5
Alcohol Abuse	5
Biculturalism	6
Child Abuse	6
Child Protection	6
Child Youth and Family	6
Childbirth	6
Children	7
Children, Young Persons and Their Families Act	7
Colonisation	7
Community Work	7
Counselling	7
Crime	8
Cultural Safety	8
Disability	8
Domestic Violence	8
Drug Abuse	9
Elderly	9
Family	9
Finance	9
Gambling	10
Gay, Lesbian, Bisexual	10
Health	10

Health Social Work	11
Housing	11
Identity	11
Immigrants	11
Indigenous Models of Practice	12
Indigenous Perspectives	12
Leadership	13
Legislation	13
Mental Health	13
Pakeha Perspectives	15
Partnerships	15
Public Policy	16
Racial Discrimination	16
Refugees	16
Research	16
Schools	16
Sexual Abuse	16
Social Work Education	16
Spirituality	16
Suicide	17
Supervision	17
Treaty of Waitangi	17
Unemployment	17
Violence	17
Women	17

Administration

Snowden, L. R. (1993). Emerging trends in organizing and financing human services: Unexamined consequences for ethnic minority populations. *American Journal of Community Psychology, 21*(1), 1-13.

Adolescents

- Finau, S. A. (1999). Alcohol and young Tongans: A FOBI perspective for change. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 6(2), 320-325.
- Foliaki, S. (1999). Mental health among Tongan migrants. Pacific Health Dialog, 6(2), 288-294.
- Pears, R. (2002). Youth Development Strategy Aotearoa What is it and how was it developed? Childrenz Issues: Journal of the Children's Issues Centre, 6(1), 11-15.
- Rubinstein, D. H. (1992). Suicide in Micronesia and Samoa: A critique of explanations. *Pacific Studies*, *15*(1), 51-75.
- Singh, D., & White, C. (2000). Rapua te huarahi tika: Searching for solutions: A review of research about effective interventions for reducing offending by indigenous and ethnic minority youth Wellington, New Zealand: Ministry of Youth Affairs. Retrieved November 8, 2008, from http://www.myd.govt.nz/uploads/docs/0.7.4.2%20rapua.pdf.

Alcohol Abuse

- Bridgman, G. (1997). Mental illness and Pacific people in New Zealand. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *4*(2), 95-104
- Finau, S. A. (1999). Alcohol and young Tongans: A FOBI perspective for change. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 6(2), 320-325.
- Foliaki, S. (1999). Mental health among Tongan migrants. Pacific Health Dialog, 6(2), 288-294.
- Huakau, J., Asiasiga, L., Ford, M., Pledger, M., Casswell, S., Suaalii-Sauni, T., et al. (2005). *New Zealand Pacific peoples' drinking style: Too much or nothing at all? New Zealand Medical Journal, 118*(1216). Retrieved November 5, 2008, from http://www.nzma.org.nz.ezproxy.auckland.ac.nz/journal/118-1216/1491/.
- James, K. (1999). Alcohol: A threat to Tonga's time-honoured values? *Pacific Health Dialog*, *6*(2), 261-264.
- Lima, I. (2004). *Tafesilafa'i: Exploring Samoan alcohol use and health within the framework of fa'asamoa.* Unpublished PhD thesis, University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Pulotu-Endemann, F. K., Suaali'i-Sauni, T. D., Lui, D., McNicholas, T., Milne, M., & Gibbs, T. (2007). Seitapu: Pacific mental health and addiction cultural & clinical competencies framework. Auckland, New Zealand: : The National Centre of Mental Health Research and Workforce Development. Retrieved November 5, 2008, from http://www.tepou.co.nz/file/PDF/publications/Microsoft_Word___Seitapu_Framework_TOBEPDF Version.pdf.
- Robinson, G. (2006). (Vol. 119). Pacific healthcare workers and their treatment interventions for Pacific clients with alcohol and drug issues in New Zealand. *New Zealand Medical Journal: Journal of*
- Page | 5

the New Zealand Medical Association, 119(1228). Retrieved october 30, 2008, from http://www.nzma.org.nz.ezproxy.auckland.ac.nz/journal/119-1228/1809/content.pdf.

Tuita, S., & Mafile'o, P. (1999). Social context of alcohol in Tonga. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *6*(2), 149-152. Wenley, S. (1998, February 11). Action on alcohol in the Pacific. *New Zealand GP*, p. 6.

Biculturalism

DeSouza, R. (2006). Sailing in a new direction: Multicultural mental health in New Zealand. Australian e-Journal for the Advancement of Mental Health (AeJAMH), 5(2). Retrieved November 5, 2008, from http://www.auseinet.com/journal/vol5iss2/desouza.pdf.

Foster, S. (2000). Addressing bi-culturalism in a teaching institution. Social Work Review, 12(1), 3-6.

Child Abuse

Seminar summaries. (2007). Te Awatea Review, 5(1), 21.

Kotch, J. B., Chalmers, D. J., Fanslow, J. L., Marshall, S., & Langley, J. D. (1993). Morbidity and death due to child abuse in New Zealand. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *17*(2), 233-247.

Matai'a, J. (2006). It's not what you say, it's how you say it: Cultural ambiguity and speaking without naming the unspeakable. *Social Work Review, 18*(1), 37-41.

Moala-Mafi, K. (2005). Love hurts. Spasifik, (10), 35.

Schultz, R. F. (1995). Child abuse in Fiji: a hidden problem. Pacific Health Dialog, 2(2), 31-36.

Child Protection

Keddell, E. (2007). Cultural identity and the Children, Young Persons, and Their Families Act 1989: Ideology, policy and practice. *Social Policy Journal of New Zealand / Te Puna Whakaaro*(32), 49-71.

Schultz, R. F. (1995). Child abuse in Fiji: a hidden problem. Pacific Health Dialog, 2(2), 31-36.

Tiumalealufano, E. (1995). Child protective services in American Samoa: A network of partnerships that work. *Social Work Review, 7*(4), 19-20.

Child Youth and Family

Moala-Mafi, K. (2005). Love hurts. Spasifik, (10), 35.

Childbirth

Butler, S. (2003). Problems with damp and cold housing among Pacific families in New Zealand. *New Zealand Medical Journal: Journal of the New Zealand Medical Association, 116*(1177). Retrieved October 30, 2008, from http://www.nzma.org.nz.ezproxy.auckland.ac.nz/journal/116-1177/494/content.pdf.

Lealaiauloto, R., & Bridgman, G. (1997, June). Pacific Island postnatal distress. *Mental Health Quarterly*, p.20-21.

Seniloli, K. (1995). Perspectives on Pacific women and children. Pacific Health Dialog, 2(1), 121-125.

Children

- Keddell, E. (2007). Cultural identity and the Children, Young Persons, and Their Families Act 1989: Ideology, policy and practice. *Social Policy Journal of New Zealand / Te Puna Whakaaro*(32), 49-71.
- Lynch, E. W., & Hanson, M. J. (2004). *Developing cross-cultural competence: A guide for working with children and their families* (3rd ed.). Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes.

Children, Young Persons and Their Families Act

Keddell, E. (2007). Cultural identity and the Children, Young Persons, and Their Families Act 1989: Ideology, policy and practice. Social Policy Journal of New Zealand / Te Puna Whakaaro(32), 49-71.

Colonisation

- Autagavaia, M. (2006). Samoan best practice: 'Tau mai na o le pua e ula, aumai na o auga o aute, se'i mai na o muiaa o laau'. *Social Work Review, 18*(1), 47-56.
- Mafile'o, T., & Wheturangi, W.-T. (2007). Māori and Pasifika indigenous connections: Tensions and possibilities. *Alternative: An international journal of indigenous scholarship*, (supp), 128-145.
- Pilato, T., Su'a, T., & Crichton-Hill, Y. (1998). A Pacific Islands perspective. Social Work Now(11), 25-29.

Community Work

Vaka Tautua. (2007). Spasifik, (23), 37.

- Calvert, A. (1997). Health of Pacific peoples: Problems and solutions into the new millennium. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *4*(2), 45-49.
- Karpfen, C. (1997). The Family Centre. Child and Adolescent Family Health Service, Forum, 1(5), 24-27.
- Snowden, L. R. (1993). Emerging trends in organizing and financing human services: Unexamined consequences for ethnic minority populations. *American Journal of Community Psychology, 21*(1), 1-13.

Counselling

- Culbertson, P., & Agee, M. (2007). What's so 'identity' about that word?: Pasifika men's experience of being 'Afakasi. *New Zealand Journal of Counselling*, 27(2), 77-95.
- Mafile'o, T., & Wheturangi, W.-T. (2007). Māori and Pasifika indigenous connections: Tensions and possibilities. *Alternative: An international journal of indigenous scholarship,* (supp), 128-145.
- Schultz, R. F. (1995). Child abuse in Fiji: a hidden problem. Pacific Health Dialog, 2(2), 31-36.
- Selby, R. (2006). New perspectives on learning in the Fiji context. Fiji Social Workers Journal, 2, 19-26.

Wilson, J. J., & Everts, J. F. (1995). Psychological wellbeing in New Zealand's ageing population: Implications for counsellors working in a multicultural society. *New Zealand Journal of Counselling*, 17(1&2), 51-58.

Crime

Foliaki, S. (1999). Mental health among Tongan migrants. *Pacific Health Dialog, 6*(2), 288-294. Talaimanu, F. U. (2006). Youth social work enhanced by fa'asamoa imperatives: Patience, humility and balance. *Social Work Review, 18*(1), 42-46.

Cultural Safety

- Ma'ia'i, S. (1994). Cultural sensitivity and the Pacific Islander. *New Zealand Patient Management, 23*(11), 29-32.
- Su'a-Hawkins, A., & Mafile'o, T. (2004). What is cultural supervision? Social Work Now, (29), 10-16.
- Tamasese, K. (2005). Ole Taeao Afua, the new morning: A qualitative investigation into Samoan perspectives on mental health and culturally-appropriate services. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 39(4), 300-309.

Disability

Vaka Tautua. (2007). Spasifik, (23), 37.

- Lynch, E. W., & Hanson, M. J. (2004). *Developing cross-cultural competence: A guide for working with children and their families* (3rd ed.). Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes.
- Pears, R. (2002). Youth Development Strategy Aotearoa What is it and how was it developed? Childrenz Issues: Journal of the Children's Issues Centre, 6(1), 11-15.
- Seniloli, K. (1995). Perspectives on Pacific women and children. Pacific Health Dialog, 2(1), 121-125.

Winkley, B. (1994). Serving the disabled. Pacific Islands Monthly: PIM, 64(5), 20-21.

Domestic Violence

Seminar summaries. (2007). Te Awatea Review, 5(1), 21.

- Crichton-Hill, Y. (2001). Challenging ethnocentric explanations of domestic violence: Let us decide, then value our decisions--a Samoan response. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse: A Review Journal, 2*(3), 203.
- Moala-Mafi, K. (2005). Love hurts. Spasifik, (10), 35.
- Paterson, J., Feehan, M., Butler, S., Williams, M., & Cowley-Malcolm, E. T. (2007). Intimate partner violence within a cohort of Pacific mothers living in New Zealand. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 22(6), 698-721.
- Wurtzburg, S. J. (2003). The Pacific Island community in New Zealand: Domestic violence and access to justice. *Criminal Justice Policy Review, 14*(3), 423-446.

Drug Abuse

- Bridgman, G. (1997). Mental illness and Pacific people in New Zealand. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *4*(2), 95-104
- Foliaki, S. (1999). Mental health among Tongan migrants. Pacific Health Dialog, 6(2), 288-294.
- Huakau, J., Asiasiga, L., Ford, M., Pledger, M., Casswell, S., Suaalii-Sauni, T., et al. (2005). *New Zealand Pacific peoples' drinking style: Too much or nothing at all? New Zealand Medical Journal, 118*(1216). Retrieved November 5, 2008, from http://www.nzma.org.nz.ezproxy.auckland.ac.nz/journal/118-1216/1491/.
- Pulotu-Endemann, F. K., Suaali'i-Sauni, T. D., Lui, D., McNicholas, T., Milne, M., & Gibbs, T. (2007). Seitapu: Pacific mental health and addiction cultural & clinical competencies framework. Auckland, New Zealand: : The National Centre of Mental Health Research and Workforce Development. Retrieved November 5, 2008, from http://www.tepou.co.nz/file/PDF/publications/Microsoft_Word___Seitapu_Framework_TOBEPDF Version.pdf.
- Robinson, G. (2006). (Vol. 119). Pacific healthcare workers and their treatment interventions for Pacific clients with alcohol and drug issues in New Zealand. *New Zealand Medical Journal: Journal of the New Zealand Medical Association*, 119(1228). Retrieved october 30, 2008, from http://www.nzma.org.nz.ezproxy.auckland.ac.nz/journal/119-1228/1809/content.pdf.
- Walmisley, G. (2002). The development of a community mental health service in the Cook Islands. *Incite: The Mental Health Journal of New Zealand, 1*(3), 37-42.

Elderly

Vaka Tautua. (2007). Spasifik, (23), 37.

Browne, C., & Broderick, A. (1994). Asian and Pacific Island elders: Issues for social work practice. *Social Work*, *39*(3), 252-259.

Schuster, F. S. (2001). Counselling against all the odds: the Samoan way. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 8(1), 193-199.

Family

Seminar summaries. (2007). Te Awatea Review, 5(1), 21.

Karpfen, C. (1997). The Family Centre. Child and Adolescent Family Health Service, Forum, 1(5), 24-27.

Mafile'o, T. (2006). Matakainga (behaving like family): The social worker-client relationship in Pasifika social work. *Social Work Review, 18*(1), 31-36.

Moala-Mafi, K. (2005). Love hurts. Spasifik, (10), 35.

Schultz, R. F. (1995). Child abuse in Fiji: a hidden problem. Pacific Health Dialog, 2(2), 31-36.

Seniloli, K. (1995). Perspectives on Pacific women and children. Pacific Health Dialog, 2(1), 121-125.

Finance

Ramacake, S. (2006). Social work in schools in New Zealand. Fiji Social Workers Journal, (2), 27-35.

Page | 9

Snowden, L. R. (1993). Emerging trends in organizing and financing human services: Unexamined consequences for ethnic minority populations. *American Journal of Community Psychology, 21*(1), 1-13.

Gambling

- Closet gambling. (2008). Tu mai: Offering an Indigenous New Zealand Perspective (95), 40.
- Bellringer, M. E., Perese, L. M., Abbott, M. W., & Williams, M. M. (2006). Gambling among Pacific mothers living in New Zealand. *International Gambling Studies*, 6(2), 217-235.
- Faleafa, M. (2007). Upping the ante: Problem gambling in our communities. Spasifik, (18), 60.
- Mason, K., & Arnold, R. (2007). Problem gambling risk factors and associated behaviours and health status: Results from the 2002/03 New Zealand Health Survey. *New Zealand Medical Journal: Journal of the New Zealand Medical Association, 120*(1257). Retrieved October 30, 2008, from http://www.nzma.org.nz.ezproxy.auckland.ac.nz/journal/120-1257/2604/content.pdf.
- Pulotu-Endemann, F. K., Suaali'i-Sauni, T. D., Lui, D., McNicholas, T., Milne, M., & Gibbs, T. (2007). Seitapu: Pacific mental health and addiction cultural & clinical competencies framework. Auckland, New Zealand: : The National Centre of Mental Health Research and Workforce Development. Retrieved November 5, 2008, from http://www.tepou.co.nz/file/PDF/publications/Microsoft_Word___Seitapu_Framework_TOBEPDF Version.pdf.

Gay, Lesbian, Bisexual

Pears, R. (2002). Youth Development Strategy Aotearoa - What is it and how was it developed? Childrenz Issues: Journal of the Children's Issues Centre, 6(1), 11-15.

Health

- Vaka Tautua. (2007). Spasifik, (23), 37.
- Butler, S. (2003). Problems with damp and cold housing among Pacific families in New Zealand. *New Zealand Medical Journal: Journal of the New Zealand Medical Association, 116*(1177). Retrieved October 30, 2008, from http://www.nzma.org.nz.ezproxy.auckland.ac.nz/journal/116-1177/494/content.pdf.
- Calvert, A. (1997). Health of Pacific peoples: Problems and solutions into the new millennium. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *4*(2), 45-49.
- Jeffs, K. (2006). A career to health. Spasifik, (14), 44-45.
- Lima, I. (2004). *Tafesilafa'i: Exploring Samoan alcohol use and health within the framework of fa'asamoa.* Unpublished PhD thesis, University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Mahina, O. (2002). 'Atamai, fakakaukau and vale: 'Mind', 'thinking' and 'mental illness' in Tonga. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 9(2), 303-308.
- Mason, K., & Arnold, R. (2007). Problem gambling risk factors and associated behaviours and health status: Results from the 2002/03 New Zealand Health Survey. *New Zealand Medical Journal: Journal of the New Zealand Medical Association, 120*(1257). Retrieved October 30, 2008, from http://www.nzma.org.nz.ezproxy.auckland.ac.nz/journal/120-1257/2604/content.pdf.
- Page | 10

- Ministry of Health. (2003). Decades of disparity: Ethnic and socioeconomic inequalities in mortality, New Zealand 1981–1999. *Public Health Intelligence Occasional Bulletin Number, 16.* Retrieved November 6, 2008, from
 - http://www.moh.govt.nz/moh.nsf/82f4780aa066f8d7cc2570bb006b5d4d/febdcf2d4baae173cc256d5c00137cae/\$FILE/EthnicMortalityTrends.pdf.
- Ministry of Health. (2005). Decades of disparity II: Socioeconomic mortality trends in New Zealand 1981–1999. Public Health Intelligence Occasional Bulletin Number, 25. Retrieved November 6, 2008, from
 - http://www.moh.govt.nz/moh.nsf/0/1999A3F85F9DA156CC256FE9000AD7FC/\$File/decadesofdisparity2.doc.
- Schultz, R. F. (2001). Community mental health: Avoided by some, neglected by others. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *8*(1), 200-206.
- Stewart-Withers, R. R., & O'Brien, A. P. (2006). Suicide prevention and social capital: A Samoan perspective. *Health Sociology Review, 15*(2), 209-220.

Health Social Work

Call and response; Te Rau Hinengaro: The New Zealand mental health survey. (2007). Voyages(3), 18-20

Housing

Butler, S. (2003). Problems with damp and cold housing among Pacific families in New Zealand. *New Zealand Medical Journal: Journal of the New Zealand Medical Association, 116*(1177). Retrieved October 30, 2008, from http://www.nzma.org.nz.ezproxy.auckland.ac.nz/journal/116-1177/494/content.pdf.

Identity

- Culbertson, P., & Agee, M. (2007). What's so 'identity' about that word?: Pasifika men's experience of being 'Afakasi. *New Zealand Journal of Counselling*, 27(2), 77-95.
- Keddell, E. (2007). Cultural identity and the Children, Young Persons, and Their Families Act 1989: Ideology, policy and practice. Social Policy Journal of New Zealand / Te Puna Whakaaro(32), 49-71.
- Lealaiauloto, R. S. (1995, Winter). I am Samoan, but can Samoans accept me? The cultural identity crisis of a NZ-reared Samoan. *Mental Health News*, p.8

Immigrants

- DeSouza, R. (2006). Sailing in a new direction: Multicultural mental health in New Zealand. Australian e-Journal for the Advancement of Mental Health (AeJAMH), 5(2). Retrieved November 5, 2008, from http://www.auseinet.com/journal/vol5iss2/desouza.pdf.
- Foliaki, S. (1999). Mental health among Tongan migrants. *Pacific Health Dialog, 6*(2), 288-294. Hall, B. (1994). Ethnic diversity in New Zealand society. *New Zealand Population Review, 20*(1&2), 110-132.

Indigenous Models of Practice

- A Pacific Island healer speaks out. (1997, December). Mental Health Quarterly, p. 22.
- Faleafa, M. (2007). Finding our way home: Pacific perspectives of mental health. Spasifik, (19), 64-65.
- Foster, S. (2000). Addressing bi-culturalism in a teaching institution. Social Work Review, 12(1), 3-6.
- Mahina, O. (2002). 'Atamai, fakakaukau and vale: 'Mind', 'thinking' and 'mental illness' in Tonga. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 9(2), 303-308.
- Matai'a, J. (2006). It's not what you say, it's how you say it: Cultural ambiguity and speaking without naming the unspeakable. *Social Work Review*, *18*(1), 37-41.
- Mila-Schaaf, K. (2006). Va-centred social work: Possibilities for a Pacific approach to social work practice. *Social Work Review*, *18*(1), 8-13.
- Mokuau, N., Garlock-Tuialii, J., & Lee, P. (2008). Has social work met its commitment to native Hawaiians and other Pacific Islanders? A review of the periodical literature. *Social Work, 53*(2), 115-121.
- Mulitalo-Lauta, P. T., & Menon, K. (2006). Art therapy and Pacific Island peoples in New Zealand: A preliminary observation and evaluation from a Pacific Island perspective. *Social Work Review,* 18(1), 22-30.
- Poltorak, M. (2007). Nemesis, speaking and Tauhi Vaha'a: Interdisciplinarity and the truth of 'mental illness' in Vava'u, Tonga. *Contemporary Pacific: A Journal of Island Affairs*, 19(1), 1-36.
- Selby, R. (2006). New perspectives on learning in the Fiji context. Fiji Social Workers Journal, 2, 19-26.

Indigenous Perspectives

- Aiono, V. (2006). Lifewriting: Anae Si'anaua Ostler (QSM, JP) and her contribution to social work history in Aotearoa New Zealand. *Social Work Review*, 18(1), 3-7.
- Crichton-Hill, Y. (2001). Challenging ethnocentric explanations of domestic violence: Let us decide, then value our decisions--a Samoan response. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse: A Review Journal, 2*(3), 203.
- Lima, I. (2004). *Tafesilafa'i: Exploring Samoan alcohol use and health within the framework of fa'asamoa.* Unpublished PhD thesis, University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Mafile'o, T. (2006). Matakainga (behaving like family): The social worker-client relationship in Pasifika social work. *Social Work Review*, *18*(1), 31-36.
- Malo, V. (2000). Pacific people in New Zealand talk about their experiences with mental illness. Mental Health Commission Recovery series, 3. Retrieved November 5, 2008, from Mental Health Commission Web site:

 http://www.mhc.govt.nz.ezproxy.auckland.ac.nz/documents/0000/0000/0035/RECOVERY_PACIF IC.PDF.
- Mokuau, N. (1991). *Handbook of social services for Asian and Pacific Islanders*. New York: Greenwood Press.

- Mulitalo-Lauta, P. T. (2000). *Fa'asamoa and social work within the New Zealand context* Palmerston North, New Zealand: Dunmore Press.
- Poltorak, M. (2007). Nemesis, speaking and Tauhi Vaha'a: Interdisciplinarity and the truth of 'mental illness' in Vava'u, Tonga. *Contemporary Pacific: A Journal of Island Affairs*, 19(1), 1-36.
- Walmisley, G. (2002). The development of a community mental health service in the Cook Islands. *Incite: The Mental Health Journal of New Zealand, 1*(3), 37-42.

Leadership

- Aiono, V. (2006). Lifewriting: Anae Si'anaua Ostler (QSM, JP) and her contribution to social work history in Aotearoa New Zealand. *Social Work Review*, 18(1), 3-7.
- Su'a-Hawkins, A., & Mafile'o, T. (2004). What is cultural supervision? Social Work Now, (29), 10-16.

Legislation

Keddell, E. (2007). Cultural identity and the Children, Young Persons, and Their Families Act 1989: Ideology, policy and practice. Social Policy Journal of New Zealand / Te Puna Whakaaro(32), 49-71.

Mental Health

- Vaka Tautua. (2007). Spasifik, (23), 37.
- Le Va is launched. (2008). Voyages, (4), 10-13.
- Agnew, F., Pulotu-Endemann, F. K., Robinson, G., Suaalii-Sauni, T., Warren, H., Wheeler, A., et al. (2004). *Pacific models of mental health service delivery in New Zealand ("PMMHSD") project*. Retrieved November 5, 2008, from http://www.tepou.co.nz/file/PDF/publications/Pacific%20Models%20Report%20Final%20Sept%20 2004.pdf.
- Allen, J. S., & Laycock, J. L. (1997). Major mental illness in the Pacific: A review. *Pacific Health Dialog,* 4(2), 105-118.
- Bridgman, G. (1993, Spring). The Pakeha ambulance at the bottom of the cliff: Trends in Maori mental health. *Mental Health News*, p. 7-11.
- Bridgman, G. (1996, December). Different paradigms, different services. Mental Health Quarterly, p. 6-8.
- Bridgman, G. (1997). Mental illness and Pacific people in New Zealand. *Pacific Health Dialog, 4*(2), 95-104.
- Butler, S. (2003). Problems with damp and cold housing among Pacific families in New Zealand. *New Zealand Medical Journal: Journal of the New Zealand Medical Association, 116*(1177). Retrieved October 30, 2008, from http://www.nzma.org.nz.ezproxy.auckland.ac.nz/journal/116-1177/494/content.pdf.
- Calvert, A. (1997). Health of Pacific peoples: Problems and solutions into the new millennium. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *4*(2), 45-49.

- DeSouza, R. (2006). Sailing in a new direction: Multicultural mental health in New Zealand. Australian e-Journal for the Advancement of Mental Health (AeJAMH), 5(2). Retrieved November 5, 2008, from http://www.auseinet.com/journal/vol5iss2/desouza.pdf.
- Faleafa, M. (2006). State of mind crisis. Spasifik, (17), 44-45.
- Faleafa, M. (2007). Finding our way home: Pacific perspectives of mental health. Spasifik, (19), 64-65.
- Foliaki, S. (1999). Mental health among Tongan migrants. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 6(2), 288-294.
- Foliaki, S. A. (2006). Twelve-month and lifetime prevalences of mental disorders and treatment contact among Pacific people in Te Rau Hinengaro: The New Zealand Mental Health Survey. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, *40*(10), 924-934.
- Ho, E., Au, S., Bedford, C., & Cooper, J. (2002). *Mental health issues for Asians in New Zealand: A literature review*: Mental Health Commission. Retrieved November 5, 2008, from http://waikato.ac.nz/wfass/migration/docs/mhc-mhi-for-asians.pdf.
- Jeffs, K. (2006). A career to health. Spasifik, (14), 44-45.
- Lealaiauloto, R., & Bridgman, G. (1997, June). Pacific Island postnatal distress. *Mental Health Quarterly*, p.20-21.
- Lealaiauloto, R. S. (1995, Spring). New directions for Pacific Island mental health services. *Mental Health News*, p.20-21.
- Lealaiauloto, R. S. (1995/1996, Summer). Pacific Island perspective. Mental Health News, p.18.
- Lealaiauloto, R. S. (1996, March). Setting the priorities in Pacific Islands people's mental health. *Mental Health News*, p. 18-19.
- Mafi, G. H. (1999). Mental disease in a Tongan general practice. *Pacific Health Dialog, 6*(2), 196-198. Mahina, O. (2002). 'Atamai, fakakaukau and vale: 'Mind', 'thinking' and 'mental illness' in Tonga. *Pacific Health Dialog, 9*(2), 303-308.
- Malo, V. (2000). Pacific people in New Zealand talk about their experiences with mental illness. Mental Health Commission Recovery series, 3. Retrieved November 5, 2008, from Mental Health Commission Web site:

 http://www.mhc.govt.nz.ezproxy.auckland.ac.nz/documents/0000/0000/0035/RECOVERY_PACIF IC.PDF.
- Mason, K., & Arnold, R. (2007). Problem gambling risk factors and associated behaviours and health status: Results from the 2002/03 New Zealand Health Survey. *New Zealand Medical Journal: Journal of the New Zealand Medical Association, 120*(1257). Retrieved October 30, 2008, from http://www.nzma.org.nz.ezproxy.auckland.ac.nz/journal/120-1257/2604/content.pdf.
- Ministry of Health. (2005). *Te orau ora: Pacific mental health profile*. Retrieved November 5, 2008, from http://www.moh.govt.nz/moh.nsf/0/EAC2CA26D8436DDBCC256FF800767035/\$File/pacificmenta lhealthprofile.pdf.
- Mulitalo-Lauta, P. T., & Menon, K. (2006). Art therapy and Pacific Island peoples in New Zealand: A preliminary observation and evaluation from a Pacific Island perspective. *Social Work Review,* 18(1), 22-30.

- Poltorak, M. (2007). Nemesis, speaking and Tauhi Vaha'a: Interdisciplinarity and the truth of 'mental illness' in Vava'u, Tonga. *Contemporary Pacific: A Journal of Island Affairs*, 19(1), 1-36.
- Puloka, M. H. (1999). 'Avanga': Tongan concepts of mental illness. Pacific Health Dialog, 6(2), 268-275.
- Pulotu-Endemann, K. (1994, Summer). What are the needs of Pacific Island people in relation to mental health? *Mental Health News*, p. 21-22.
- Rubinstein, D. H. (1992). Suicide in Micronesia and Samoa: A critique of explanations. *Pacific Studies*, 15(1), 51-75.
- Schultz, R. F. (2001). Community mental health: Avoided by some, neglected by others. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *8*(1), 200-206.
- Schuster, F. S. (2001). Counselling against all the odds: the Samoan way. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 8(1), 193-199.
- Suicide Prevention Information New Zealand. (2007). *Paolo: Embracing our Samoan communities:*Suicide prevention information for people working with Samoans in Niu Sila: Retrieved November 5, 2008, from Mental Health Foundation Web site:
 http://www.mentalhealth.org.nz/file/downloads/pdf/SPINZ%20ENGLISH.pdf.
- Suicide Prevention Information New Zealand. (2007). *Paolo: la matuā fa'atāuaina o tatou Tagata Samoa: Fesoasoani mo i latou o lo'o galulue e puipuia tagata Samoa o i totonu o Niu Sila mai le faafitauli o le Pule i le Ola*: [Samoan version]. Retrieved November 5, 2008, from Mental Health Foundation Web site: http://www.mentalhealth.org.nz/file/downloads/pdf/SPINZ%20SAMOAN.pdf.
- Tamasese, K. (2005). Ole Taeao Afua, the new morning: A qualitative investigation into Samoan perspectives on mental health and culturally-appropriate services. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, *39*(4), 300-309.
- Walmisley, G. (2002). The development of a community mental health service in the Cook Islands. *Incite: The Mental Health Journal of New Zealand, 1*(3), 37-42.
- Wells, J. E. (2006). Te Rau Hinengaro: The New Zealand Mental Health Survey: Overview of methods and findings. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, *40*(10), 835-844.

Pakeha Perspectives

- Bridgman, G. (1996, December). Different paradigms, different services. Mental Health Quarterly, p. 6-8.
- Hall, B. (1994). Ethnic diversity in New Zealand society. *New Zealand Population Review, 20*(1&2), 110-132.
- Keddell, E. (2007). Cultural identity and the Children, Young Persons, and Their Families Act 1989: Ideology, policy and practice. *Social Policy Journal of New Zealand / Te Puna Whakaaro*(32), 49-71.

Partnerships

Tiumalealufano, E. (1995). Child protective services in American Samoa: A network of partnerships that work. *Social Work Review, 7*(4), 19-20.

Public Policy

Davey, J. A. (1994). Ethnic differences and the policy response in New Zealand. *British Review of NZ Studies*, (7), 93-111.

Racial Discrimination

Skehan, C. (1993). Sharing aboriginality. Pacific Islands Monthly: PIM, 63(3), 22.

Refugees

DeSouza, R. (2006). Sailing in a new direction: Multicultural mental health in New Zealand. Australian e-Journal for the Advancement of Mental Health (AeJAMH), 5(2). Retrieved November 5, 2008, from http://www.auseinet.com/journal/vol5iss2/desouza.pdf.

Research

- Statistics New Zealand. (2008). *QuickStats about Pacific peoples*. Retrieved November 8, 2008, from http://www.stats.govt.nz/NR/rdonlyres/45BED0E7-E709-4DCE-9B01-0C715EC050AE/0/quickstatsaboutpacificpeoples.pdf.
- Tupuola, A. M. (1993). Raising consciousness the Fa'aSamoa way. *New Zealand Annual Review of Education*, (3), 175-189.

Schools

Ramacake, S. (2006). Social work in schools in New Zealand. Fiji Social Workers Journal, (2), 27-35.

Sexual Abuse

Matai'a, J. (2006). It's not what you say, it's how you say it: Cultural ambiguity and speaking without naming the unspeakable. *Social Work Review, 18*(1), 37-41.

Social Work Education

- Foster, S. (2000). Addressing bi-culturalism in a teaching institution. Social Work Review, 12(1), 3-6.
- Passells, V. (2006). 'Pasifika' location and privilege: Conceptual frameworks from first year Pasifika social work students. *Social Work Review*, *18*(1), 14-21.
- Tuagalu, I. (2008). Heuristics of the va. Alternative: An International Journal of Indigenous Scholarship, p.107-126.

Spirituality

- Scheyvens, R. (2003). Church women's groups and the empowerment of women in Solomon Islands. *Oceania*, 74(1/2), 24-43.
- Tuagalu, I. (2008). Heuristics of the va. Alternative: An International Journal of Indigenous Scholarship, p.107-126.

Suicide

- Foliaki, S. (1999). Mental health among Tongan migrants. Pacific Health Dialog, 6(2), 288-294.
- Rubinstein, D. H. (1992). Suicide in Micronesia and Samoa: A critique of explanations. *Pacific Studies*, *15*(1), 51-75.
- Stewart-Withers, R. R., & O'Brien, A. P. (2006). Suicide prevention and social capital: A Samoan perspective. *Health Sociology Review, 15*(2), 209-220.
- Suicide Prevention Information New Zealand. (2007). *Paolo: Embracing our Samoan communities:*Suicide prevention information for people working with Samoans in Niu Sila: Retrieved November 5, 2008, from Mental Health Foundation Web site:
 http://www.mentalhealth.org.nz/file/downloads/pdf/SPINZ%20ENGLISH.pdf.
- Suicide Prevention Information New Zealand. (2007). *Paolo: la matuā fa'atāuaina o tatou Tagata Samoa: Fesoasoani mo i latou o lo'o galulue e puipuia tagata Samoa o i totonu o Niu Sila mai le faafitauli o le Pule i le Ola:* [Samoan version]. Retrieved November 5, 2008, from Mental Health Foundation Web site: http://www.mentalhealth.org.nz/file/downloads/pdf/SPINZ%20SAMOAN.pd.

Supervision

Selby, R. (2006). New perspectives on learning in the Fiji context. Fiji Social Workers Journal, 2, 19-26.

Su'a-Hawkins, A., & Mafile'o, T. (2004). What is cultural supervision? Social Work Now, (29), 10-16.

Treaty of Waitangi

Ho, E., Au, S., Bedford, C., & Cooper, J. (2002). *Mental health issues for Asians in New Zealand: A literature review*: Mental Health Commission. Retrieved November 5, 2008, from http://waikato.ac.nz/wfass/migration/docs/mhc-mhi-for-asians.pdf.

Unemployment

Department of Social Welfare. (1996). *Pate Lali Nafa: Strategy for Pacific Islands employment and service delivery* Retreived November 8, 2008, from http://www.cyf.govt.nz/documents/lali.pdf.

Violence

Seminar summaries. (2007). Te Awatea Review, 5(1), 21.

Schuster, F. S. (2001). Counselling against all the odds: the Samoan way. *Pacific Health Dialog, 8*(1), 193-199.

Women

- Bellringer, M. E., Perese, L. M., Abbott, M. W., & Williams, M. M. (2006). Gambling among Pacific mothers living in New Zealand. *International Gambling Studies*, *6*(2), 217-235.
- Naidu-Lali, S., & Devi, S. (2005). Empowering women, a reflection on a group process: Working on a Fiji model of practice, a strengths-based proactive perspective/approach. *Fiji social workers journal*, 1(1), 22-26.

Scheyvens, R. (2003). Church women's groups and the empowerment of women in Solomon Islands. Oceania, 74(1/2), 24-43.

Seniloli, K. (1995). Perspectives on Pacific women and children. *Pacific Health Dialog, 2*(1), 121-125.